AGREEMENT

between

THE NORTH CONWAY WATER PRECINCT

and

THE STATE EMPLOYEES' ASSOCIATION, SEIU LOCAL 1984,
THE NORTH CONWAY WATER PRECINCT EMPLOYEES

For the period January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1: PURPOSE AND INTENT	
ARTICLE 2: RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 3: PROBATIONARY PERIOD	1
ARTICLE 4: DEDUCTIONS	2
ARTICLE 5: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	3
ARTICLE 6: SICK LEAVE	4
ARTICLE 7: JURY DUTY	5
ARTICLE 8: ANNUAL VACATIONS	5
ARTICLE 9: BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	6
ARTICLE 10: MILITARY SERVICE	6
ARTICLE 11: HOLIDAYS	7
ARTICLE 12: LEAVE OF ABSENCE	7
ARTICLE 13: SAFETY / CLOTHING	8
ARTICLE 14: EMERGENCY WORK	9
ARTICLE 15: BULLETIN BOARDS	
ARTICLE 16: INSURANCE	9
ARTICLE 17: DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES	10
ARTICLE 18: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 19: WAGES	
ARTICLE 20: SENIORITY	14
ARTICLE 21: PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS	
ARTICLE 22: HOURS / WORK SCHEDULE	
ARTICLE 23: STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS PROHIBITEDARTICLE 24: FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT POLICY	17
ARTICLE 24: FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT POLICY	17
ARTICLE 25: STABILITY OF AGREEMENT	17
ARTICLE 26: DURATION	
ARTICLE 27: CONSULTATION AND LABOR MANAGEMENT	
ARTICLE 28: EVALUATIONS	19
SIGNATURES	20
APPENDIX A: WAGE SCHEDULE	
APPENDIX B: WAGE SCLAE CLASSIFICATIONS	22
ADDENIDLY C: EMDLOYEE SLOTTING IN NEW WAGE SCALE	25

ARTICLE 1: PURPOSE AND INTENT

1.1 The purpose of the North Conway Water Precinct and the Union in entering into this Labor Agreement is to set forth their agreement on rates of pay, job specifications, wages, hours of work and conditions of employment so as to promote orderly and peaceful relations between the Water Precinct and its organized employees.

ARTICLE 2: RECOGNITION

- 2.1 The North Conway Water Precinct (the "Precinct" or "Employer") hereby recognizes The State Employees' Association of New Hampshire, Inc. SEIU Local 1984 (the "Union") as the sole and exclusive representative of all full-time and regular part-time employees of the North Conway Water Precinct and North Conway Fire Department for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, and all other conditions of employment which are subject to this contract.
 - Employees represented by this agreement that are assigned to non-bargaining unit duty, shall remain covered by and shall be afforded all rights provided under this agreement.
- 2.2 Excluded from this agreement are temporary employees, irregular part-time employees, on-call employees, as well as the following positions: Superintendent; Fire Chief; Assistant Fire Chief; Wastewater Chief Operator; and Business Manager, and all other supervisors, confidential employees, and management employees.
- 2.3 Irregular part-time employees are those employees who work less than twenty (20) hours per week. Employees who are regularly scheduled to work twenty (20) or more hours but less than forty (40) hours per week are considered regular part-time employees and are covered by this agreement. Employees who are regularly scheduled to work forty (40) or more hours per week are considered full-time employees.
- 2.4 The Precinct and the Union agree not to discriminate in any way against employees covered by this agreement on account of membership in the Union.

ARTICLE 3: PROBATIONARY PERIOD

- 3.1 All new employees must serve a probation period of six (6) months from the date of hire.

 During such probation period, any discipline, including discharge, shall not be subject to the grievance procedure in this Agreement.
- 3.2 At the discretion of the supervisor, the probation period may be extended for up to an additional six (6) months.

3.3 All water and sewer employees covered by this Agreement and hired after January 1, 2015, must obtain a Grade I (Operator in Training) license within six (6) months of hire as a condition of continued employment. Inability to meet this requirement will result in immediate dismissal.

ARTICLE 4: DEDUCTIONS

- 4.1 The Precinct agrees to deduct the Local 1984 SEIU/SEA dues from the wages of all employees who are covered by this agreement and who sign the authorization form provided by the Local 1984 SEIU, SEA and to send said dues, along with a statement indicating who has paid these dues, to the Treasurer of Local#1984 SEA.
- 4.2 The Union will provide the Precinct with a copy of an authorization form signed by each employee for whom dues are to be deducted and will keep the Precinct informed of the correct name and address of the Treasurer of Local # 1984 SEA and the current rate of its dues.
- 4.3 This deduction of dues shall be made on a pay period basis and shall be sent monthly to the treasurer of Local #1984 SEA.
- 4.4 If any employee has no check coming to him/her, or if his/her check is not large enough to satisfy the dues, then no deduction will be made from that employee. In no case will the Precinct attempt to collect fines or assessments for the Union beyond the regular dues.
- 4.5 Any employee who has authorized a dues deduction may revoke the authorization for dues deductions upon thirty (30) calendar days written notice to the Precinct. The Union shall be promptly notified of any such revocations.
- 4.6 Should there be a dispute between an employee and the Union or between an employee and the Precinct over the matter of deductions described above, the Union agrees that it will defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Precinct and the Commissioners and all of their agents, officers, and employees in any such dispute.
 - However, nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as relieving the Precinct of its responsibilities to make deductions properly authorized pursuant to this Article and to transmit said deductions to the Treasurer of the Union.
- 4.7 An individual who is not a member of the Association who requests the services of the Association in grievance representation shall be charged the full fair cost to the Association of such non-member representation.

ARTICLE 5: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- Except as otherwise expressly and specifically limited by the terms of this Agreement, the 5.1 Employer retains all its customary, usual, and exclusive rights, decision making, prerogatives, functions, and authority connected with or in any way incidental to its responsibility to manage the affairs and operations of the Precinct. It is understood that for purposes of this Agreement, all references to the North Conway Water Precinct and/or the Employer shall refer to the Commissioners of the North Conway Water Precinct. The rights of the employees in the bargaining unit and the Union hereunder are limited to those specifically set forth in this Agreement, and the Employer retains all prerogatives, functions, and rights not specifically limited by the terms of this Agreement. The employer shall have no obligation to negotiate with the Union with respect to any such subjects or the exercise of its discretion and decision-making with regard thereto, with respect to any subjects covered by the terms of this Agreement and closed to further negotiations for the term hereof, or with respect to any subject which was or might have been raised in the course of collective bargaining but is now closed for the term hereof.
- 5.2 Without limitation, but by way of illustration, the exclusive prerogatives, function, and rights of the Employer shall include the following:
 - 5.2.a To direct and supervise all operations, functions, and policies of the Employer in which the employees in the bargaining unit are employed.
 - 5.2.b To close or liquidate an office, branch, operation or facility, or combination of facilities, or to relocate, reorganize, or combine the work of divisions, offices, branches, operations, or facilities for budgetary or other reasons.
 - 5.2.c To determine the need for a reduction or an increase in the workforce and the implementation of any decision with regards thereto.
 - 5.2.d To establish, revise, and implement standards for hiring, classification, promotion, quality of work, safety, materials, uniforms, appearance, equipment, methods, and procedures. It is jointly recognized that the Employer must retain broad authority to fulfill and implement its responsibilities and may do so by adopting and enforcing oral and written work rules, now and in the future.
 - 5.2.e To implement new, and to revise or discharge, wholly or in part, old methods, procedures, materials, equipment, facilities, and standards.
 - 5.2.f To assign and distribute work.
 - 5.2.g To establish and/or assign shifts, workdays, hours of work and work locations.
 - 5.2.h To determine the need for and the qualifications of new employees, transfers, and promotions.

- 5.2.i To discipline, suspend, demote, or discharge an employee.
- 5.2.j To determine the need for additional educational courses, training programs, on-thejob training and cross training, and to assign employees to such duties for periods to be determined by the Employer.
- 5.3 The exercise of any management prerogative, function or right which is not specifically modified by the Agreement is not subject to the grievance procedure, to arbitration, or, as set forth above, to bargaining during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 6: SICK LEAVE

- 6.1 Full-time employees shall earn sick leave at the rate of one day per month (12 days per year) and sick leave shall be available in full on the first day of the calendar year. Sick leave will be provided on a pro-rated basis to new employees at the date of hire.

 Unused sick leave may accumulate to a maximum of three hundred and sixty (360) hours. Part-time employees shall earn sick leave on a pro-rata basis.
- 6.2 After completion of the probationary period, sick leave may be used for actual sickness or disability of the employee, for doctor or dental appointments or to take physical examinations. An employee may utilize up to four (4) days of sick leave per calendar year for the purpose of providing care to an injured parent, child, or spouse.
- 6.3 Sick leave shall be counted as hours worked when computing overtime.
- 6.4 An employee shall be required to present a doctor's certificate after the fifth (5th) day of illness or if the employee demonstrates a pattern of illness and the employer can document the pattern of illness.
- After ten (10) years of continuous employment by the Precinct, an employee who retires and is eligible for retirement benefits from the New Hampshire Retirement System shall receive a payment equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the employee's accrued and unused sick days, paid at the employee's base hourly rate (without stipends) at the time of retirement.
- 6.6 At the discretion of the Board of Commissioners, an employee receiving worker's compensation payments shall be entitled to utilize sick leave to supplement the worker's compensation payment, provided that such utilization shall not compensate the employee for more than a normal day's pay. Decisions of the board under this provision shall be final and shall not be subject to the Grievance Procedure.

6.7 Employees may donate up to two (2) days per year of accrued sick leave to a Sick Leave Bank. An employee who has exhausted all his/her sick leave due to an extended illness or injury may apply to use sick leave from the Sick Leave Bank, up to a maximum of thirty (30) days or until the employee becomes eligible for Long Term Disability Insurance, whichever comes first. The Labor Management Committee shall administer the Sick Leave Bank and must approve applications by a majority vote. The Committee's decision regarding eligibility shall be final and shall not be subject to the Grievance Procedure. Sick leave donated to the Sick Leave Bank and not utilized will remain in the Bank and be carried over from year to year, up to a maximum of ninety (90) days.

ARTICLE 7: JURY DUTY

- 7.1 An employee called as a Juror will be paid the difference between the fee received for service and the amount of straight time earnings lost by such service. Satisfactory evidence of such service must be given to the employee's immediate supervisor.
- 7.2 All time spent on Jury Duty shall be counted as hours worked when computing overtime.
- 7.3 Employees shall immediately notify their supervisors if they are summoned for jury duty.
- 7.4 If any the employee completes said jury duty or other appearance with two (2) or more hours remaining on his/her regularly scheduled shift, he or she shall call the Supervisor to determine whether he or she should report to work for the remainder of the shift.

ARTICLE 8: ANNUAL VACATIONS

8.1 Vacation time shall be provided as follows:

0 – 6 Years 2 weeks (10 days) 7 – 15 Years 3 weeks (15 days) 16+ Years 4 weeks (20 days)

- Vacation time shall be available to use in full on January 1 of each calendar year. Should an employee leave employment prior to the end of the calendar year, accrued vacation time will be calculated on a prorated basis and the unused balance, if any, will be paid at the employee's regular weekly base rate. For example, an employee whose employment ends on June 30 will have earned one-half of their annual vacation time. If an employee has used more than their prorated accrual, the excess time used must be repaid to the Precinct. The employee will authorize the Precinct to deduct such amount from the employee's final pay. An employee who retires under the New Hampshire Retirement System after June 30 will not be subject to the repayment obligation above.
- 8.3 Vacation time shall be paid at Employee's regular base rate.

- 8.4 Regular Part-time employees shall earn vacation time on a pro rata basis.
- 8.5 An Employee shall submit a written request for vacation time to the Supervisor at least five (5) days in advance. The supervisor shall have the right to refuse vacation time requests based on operational necessity. Should the number of requests for a specific vacation time period jeopardize manpower levels, employee vacation approvals shall be based first upon date of employee request, and second on employee longevity.
- 8.6 A maximum of 5 days may be carried over into the following year.
- 8.7 Employees who are terminated for misconduct will forfeit any accrued but unused vacation time.

ARTICLE 9: BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- 9.1 Bereavement leave of up to three (3) days with pay between the date of death and the date of the funeral, inclusive, shall be granted an employee in the event of the death of any family member. For purposes of this section, "family" means spouse, significant other, parent, child, sibling, grandparent, grandchild, and current father-, mother-, brother-, and sister-in-law. At the discretion of the Superintendent or Fire Chief, one (1) day may be granted in the event of the death of an aunt, uncle, or cousin.
- 9.2 Under extenuating circumstances, two (2) additional days may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent or Fire Chief. Requests for such additional time to be paid may be granted at the discretion of the Commissioners.
- 9.3 upon termination of employment for any reason, an employee shall not be entitled to payment for unused bereavement leave.

ARTICLE 10: MILITARY SERVICE

10.1 Shall be governed by existing law.

ARTICLE 11: HOLIDAYS

11.1 All Bargaining unit employees shall be paid the following named holidays. Should a holiday fall on a Saturday or Sunday it will be celebrated on either the preceding Friday or the following Monday.

New Year's Day

Labor Day

Civil Rights Day

Indigenous Peoples Day

Presidents Day

Veterans Day

Memorial Day Juneteenth Thanksgiving Day

Judenes des es De

Christmas Day

Independence Day

Day before or after Christmas, as determined

by the Board of Commissioners

- 11.2 Employees who are required to work on Thanksgiving Day and/or Christmas Day (from 12:00 am to 11:59 pm) shall be paid two (2) times their regular base rate for all hours actually worked, in addition to receiving holiday pay. All hours worked on the remaining holidays shall be at the rate of time and one-half over and above regular hours paid for the holiday. When computing overtime for a holiday week, the holiday will count as the number of hours the employee would normally have worked, up to a maximum of eight (8) hours worked. If an employee works on the holiday, then any hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours will be counted when computing overtime.
- 11.3 Holidays may be substituted for other dates if agreed to by the bargaining unit and the Commissioners.
- 11.4 Employees shall be granted one (1) Personal Day which may be used for any reason and one (1) Emergency Day which may be used only for important matters which cannot be handled during non-work hours. Where feasible, Employees must submit requests for Personal or Emergency days to the Superintendent or Fire Chief at least one (1) week in advance.

Personal and Emergency days may be used in ½ day increments. Unused Personal and Emergency days may not be carried over to the next year and will not be paid at termination of employment.

ARTICLE 12: LEAVE OF ABSENCE

12.1 The Precinct shall grant officers of the Union one (1) day off per year without pay for the purpose of transacting Union business.

12.2 A reasonable number of employees who act as representatives of the Bargaining Unit shall be given a reasonable opportunity to meet with the employer or his representatives during working hours without loss of compensation or benefits for negotiations, or in the settlement of grievances, in accordance with RSA 273-A:11.

ARTICLE 13: SAFETY / CLOTHING

- 13.1 The Precinct shall have the right to make regulations for the safety and health of its employees during their hours of employment. The Union may designate a member of the bargaining unit to serve on Precinct's Joint Loss Management Committee which is charged with the responsibility to monitor and enforce the Precinct's Joint Loss Management Manual in accordance with the State's Worker's Compensation Law. The Union agrees that its members will comply with the Precinct's rules and regulations relating to safety, economy, and efficiency of services to the Precinct and the Public. Failure to do so is grounds for disciplinary action, including dismissal, subject to grievance procedure.
- 13.2 The Union and its members agree to exercise proper care and to be responsible for all Precinct property issued or entrusted to them. Failure to do is grounds for disciplinary action, including dismissal, subject to grievance procedure.
- 13.3 The Precinct shall furnish rain gear, hip boots, gloves and special clothing as needed for the health and safety of all employees. The Precinct shall also provide water and sewer employees with long and short-sleeved shirts, pants and jackets and the cleaning and maintenance of them. In addition, the Precinct shall provide each water and sewer employee up to a maximum of \$350.00 per year for the purchase of boots. Any Precinct employee required to wear prescription glasses will be provided, upon request, prescription safety glasses.
- 13.4 In cases of disinterment, necessary protective shots will be given by proper medical officers at the expense of the Precinct.
- 13.5 Full time employees at the Fire Department will receive a \$700.00 annual clothing allowance.
- 13.6 The Precinct shall pay for licenses, certificates, or endorsements that are required by the Precinct in order for the employee to perform his or her job and will pay for any class required in order for the employee to obtain or retain such license, certificate or endorsement.

13.7 The Precinct shall pay each full-time employee an annual cell phone allowance of \$432 or the Precinct will provide the employee with a Precinct cell phone, at the employee's option. The allowance payment will be made in the last payroll of December. If an employee leaves employment, for any reason, prior to the last payroll in December, no allowance will be paid. New employees will receive a prorated allowance for the balance of the year after completion of the probationary period. All employees must provide the Precinct with their cell phone numbers so that they can be reached during scheduled work hours. The Precinct will not replace damaged personal cell phones.

ARTICLE 14: EMERGENCY WORK

- 14.1 Unless excused by the Superintendent or designee due to illness or disability, it shall be the duty of all employees to make themselves available during the course of emergency situations. Deliberate refusal to work during such situations without adequate justification may result in disciplinary action, including dismissal, subject to grievance procedure.
- 14.2 If an employee is called back from vacation due to an emergency situation, then all hours of work shall be paid at double time rate of pay until the employee returns to his/her regular work schedule.
- 14.3 Emergencies shall only be determined by the Precinct Superintendent or designee.
- 14.4 This Article shall not apply to the Fire Department.

ARTICLE 15: BULLETIN BOARDS

15.1 The Precinct shall provide space on bulletin boards for the posting of notices of the Union addressed to the members. No notice shall be posted until it has been signed either by the President or Secretary of the Union. Such notices shall not contain material derogatory to the Precinct, the commissioners or management. Any material posted which violates the preceding sentence may be removed by the Precinct.

ARTICLE 16: INSURANCE

16.1 After completion of the probationary period, the Precinct shall provide full time employees with life insurance coverage with accidental death and dismemberment on each employee in the amount of \$20,000.

- 16.2 The Precinct shall provide Long Term Disability Insurance coverage, which shall cover an employee to at least age 65. There shall be a 90-calendar day elimination period. The benefit shall be 60% of an employee's pay up to a maximum of a \$3,500. Employees should refer to the Certificate of Coverage for detailed explanation of coverage. The Precinct shall also provide Short-Term Disability Insurance coverage which will provide up to twenty-sick (26) weeks of benefits for employees who are unable to work due to non-work-related illness or injury, after eight (8) days of illness or one (1) day following an injury.
- 16.3 After thirty (30) days of employment, the Precinct shall provide health and hospitalization insurance for employees who work thirty (30) hours or more per week and their dependents. The Precinct shall provide health coverage under the Anthem Blue Plan AB20 Rx10/20/45). The Precinct reserves the right to change insurance carriers provided the level of benefits is at least equal to the level of benefits provided by the Anthem Blue Plan. Employees shall contribute towards the premium for health insurance on a biweekly basis through payroll deductions in the following amounts:

2023-2027 Employees will pay 15% of the premium

Alternatively, Employees may opt to enroll in the Anthem Blue SOS 20/40/1KDED Rx10/20/45 plan and the Precinct will reimburse the first 50% of the deductible expenses. Employees will contribute the following towards the premiums:

- 2023 Employees will pay 0% of the premium
- 2024 Employees will pay 3% of the premium
- 2025 Employees will pay 6% of the premium
- 2026 Employees will pay 9% of the premium
- 2027 Employees will pay 12% of the premium

Any employee who opts to switch to the AB SOS 20/40/1KDED Plan may reenroll in the AB20 Plan during any open enrollment period through the end of calendar year 2025. After that the AB20 Plan will not be available to that employee. Any employee hired on or after January 1, 2022, will only be eligible for the AB SOS 20/40/1KDED Plan.

16.4 Employees who have opted out of the Precinct Health Insurance Plan, with proof of other coverage, shall be paid an annual stipend of \$3,000. The stipend shall be paid in two (2) equal installments on June 30 and December 31, provided the employee has opted out of the insurance for the entire preceding six (6) months.

ARTICLE 17: DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

17.1 No disciplinary action shall be taken unless there is evidence to support the action.

- 17.2 All suspensions and discharges must be stated in writing with the reason stated and a copy given to the employee and the Union at the time of suspension or discharge.
- 17.3 supervisors shall have authority to determine the appropriate form of discipline, taking into account the nature of the offense and the employee's overall record. However, disciplinary actions shall normally follow this order:
 - (a) A verbal warning
 - (b) A written warning
 - (c) Suspension without pay
 - (d) Discharge
- 17.4 Employees testing positive for substance abuse will have two options: (1), terminate employment with the Precinct; or (2) seek assistance of a substance abuse professional (SAP). Expense for SAP services and rehabilitation services shall be borne by the employee. The SAP and rehabilitation program must be accredited and approved by the Precinct and the employee must authorize release of information to the Precinct. Failure to cooperate with or adhere to the SAP program or testing positive during rehabilitation shall result in immediate termination of employment. A second (2nd) offense shall result in immediate termination.
- 17.5 The loss of CDL will result in termination of employment. If the loss of CDL is due to a medical condition supported by a physician's note, the Precinct will attempt to make reasonable accommodations as appropriate.
- 17.6 An employee may request to have a union representative present at any meeting called by Management for the purpose of imposing disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 18: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 18.1 Definition. A grievance for the purpose of this agreement is a complaint by an employee or employees alleging a violation of any provision(s) of this Agreement.
- 18.2 It is intended that the procedure provided herein shall facilitate the resolution of any such dispute at the lowest possible level and the Union and the Employer agree to work together towards this end. Before a grievance is filed, the employee(s) shall attempt to settle complaints through discussion with the employee's supervisor. It is understood that this informal process does not extend the time limits for filing a formal grievance as set forth in Article 18.3.

18.3 Grievance Levels

- 18.3.a Level 1. Any complaint which has not been resolved through the informal resolution process shall be reduced to writing, using the grievance form attached hereto as Appendix B, and presented to the Superintendent/Fire Chief, as applicable, within thirty (30) days of the alleged violation. The Superintendent/Fire Chief may meet with the Grievant and his/her representative, if necessary, within seven (7) calendar days of the request and shall respond to the grievance in writing within seven (7) calendar days.
- 18.3.b Level 2. If the Grievant is not satisfied with the response of the Superintendent/Fire Chief, the grievance shall be referred to the Labor Management Committee within seven (7) calendar days of the response. The Labor Management Committee shall meet with the Grievant and his/her representative, if necessary, within seven (7) calendar days of the request and will respond to the grievance, in writing, within seven (7) calendar days of the meeting. If a majority of the Labor Management Committee is unable to agree on a resolution, they will automatically refer the grievance to the Commissioners within seven (7) calendar days of the meeting.
- 18.3.c Level 3. If the Grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Labor Management Committee, the grievance may be referred to the Commissioners within seven (7) calendar days of the response by the Labor Management Committee. The Commissioners shall hold a hearing within thirty (30) calendar days of their receipt of the grievance and shall render their decision, in writing, within seven (7) calendar days of the hearing.
- 18.3.d Level 4. If not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Commissioners, the Union shall inform the Precinct, in writing postmarked no later than ten (10) workdays after receipt or knowledge of the third level decision, of its desire to submit the grievance to arbitration. If the matter is referred to arbitration, the parties will first attempt to mutually agree on an arbitrator. If the parties cannot agree to an arbitrator within ten (10) working days, their either party may apply to the American Arbitration Association or the PELRB for an arbitrator to be selected under the rules and regulations of the respective agency. The arbitrator shall have the authority to decide procedural and substantive issues of arbitrability. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to add to, subtract from, or modify any of the provisions of this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be advisory only and not binding on either party.
- 18.4 Time periods specified in this procedure may be extended by mutual agreement.
- 18.5 Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate the decision on a grievance within the specified time limits (unless extended by mutual agreement) shall permit the aggrieved person to proceed to the next level.

- 18.6 No reprisals will be taken by the Board of Commissioners or by any member of the management against any participant in the grievance procedure.
- 18.7 Grievances shall not be made a part of any employee's personnel file or used in making employment references.
- 18.8 Nothing contained herein shall be construed as limiting the right of any employee or group of employees to meet with the Employer to discuss any grievance informally and to have the grievance adjusted without the intervention of the Union, provided the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement and the Union is informed, in writing, of the resolution of said grievance.
- 18.9 The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be divided equally between the Board and the Union, provided, however, that each party shall be responsible for compensating its own representatives.

ARTICLE 19: WAGES

- 19.1 Bargaining unit employees shall be paid within the pay ranges established for each position contained in Appendix A. The Precinct reserves the right to determine starting wages for new employees based on experience training, and skills; provided however, that the starting wage for a new employee must be within the established pay range for the position and must not exceed the pay rate for an existing employee with the same experience, training, and skills.
- 19.2 All bargaining unit positions will be reclassified in accordance with the Wage Scale Classifications set forth in Appendix B. Effective on the first payroll following voter approval of the Agreement and retroactive to January 1, 2023, bargaining unit employees will be placed in the positions and will receive the pay rates as shown in Appendix C. No Employee will receive less than a 5% increase over their 2022 rate of pay.
- 19.3 Effective on January 1 of each subsequent year of this Agreement, bargaining unit employees who are not at the applicable maximum rate in Appendix A shall receive a pay increase in the following amounts:

2024 - 3.50%

2025 - 3.50%

2026 - 3.50%

2027 - 3.50%

19.4 Any bargaining unit employee whose rate of pay is at the maximum of his/her pay range, shall be paid a biweekly bonus of \$20.00 in lieu of having his/her hourly rate adjusted pursuant to paragraphs 19.3.

19.5 Retention Bonus

In recognition of the Precinct's investment in training employees and the value provided by more senior employees, the Precinct shall provide a Retention Bonus in December of each year. The amount of Retention Bonus shall be based on employee longevity according to the following schedule:

0 – 5 Years	\$1,750.00
6 – 10 Years	\$1,900.00
11 - 15 Years	\$2,075.00
16+ Years	\$2,250.00

ARTICLE 20: SENIORITY

- 20.1 An employee's seniority shall commence with the hiring date and continue so long as the Precinct employs him/her.
- 20.2 An employee shall not forfeit seniority during absence caused by the following:
 - 20.2.a Illness resulting in total temporary disability, not exceeding eighteen (18) months due to his/her work with the Precinct, and covered by the Precinct's Worker's Compensation carrier.
 - 20.2.b While on active duty with the Armed Forces.
- 20.3 Bargaining Unit employees who have been in the employ of the Precinct for at least two (2) years shall receive a longevity increase of \$.05 per hour effective January 1 of each year. For 2023, the increase will be implemented following approval at the Annual Precinct Meeting but shall be retroactive to January 1.

ARTICLE 21: PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS

- 21.1 The Precinct reserves the right and shall have the right to make promotions or transfers primarily on the basis of qualifications, ability and past performance, but shall be governed by seniority where feasible if the Precinct determines that two or more applicants have equal qualifications, ability and past performance.
- 21.2 Promoted or transferred employees shall serve a six (6) month probationary period to learn a new or different job. If the Precinct, within the probationary period, determines that the employee is not capable of performing the new job, the employee will be returned to the prior job at the previous rate of pay plus any cost-of-living increase granted to other employees, provided that the prior job is still available. "Still available" shall mean that the position has not been eliminated and is currently vacant.
- 21.3 All management positions must be posted and qualified employees may apply for these jobs.
- 21.4 All bargaining unit vacancies and new jobs must be posted for ten (10) days so that all employees will have an opportunity to apply for these jobs. If an employee is on leave, he or she shall be notified of the posting.
- 21.5 If the posting is for a bargaining unit position, the selection may be subject to the Grievance Procedure, provided, however, that the Arbitrator may only overturn the selection on the grounds that the Precinct acted arbitrarily or capriciously in applying section 21.1.
- 21.6 Job posting shall include job specifications, rate of pay, job location, and the shift.

ARTICLE 22: HOURS / WORK SCHEDULE

22.1 The normal workweek shall begin on Monday at 12:01 a.m. and end on Sunday at 12:00 p.m. midnight.

22.2 Work Schedule

22.2.a Non-Firefighters: Fifteen-minute rest periods shall be granted during each 4-hour block of work. A ½ hour lunch break, not considered time worked, shall be provided during each workday. Employees working on the same project should coordinate breaks in order to avoid disruption to Precinct operations. An employee who elects to work through the lunch break must obtain the prior approval of the supervisor and must complete the Department of Labor meal period waiver form.

Work schedules will be set by the Superintendent or Fire Chief, as applicable, and may vary based on position but will normally be 8.5 hours per day including breaks and meal times.

- 22.2.b Firefighters: The Precinct has designated 48 hours as the regular work week for full-time Firefighters. Work schedules will be set by the Fire Chief and may vary based on position but will normally be up to twelve (12) hours, which will include breaks and meals as time worked.
- 22.3 Any and all hours worked over forty (40) in one week or eight (8) in a day for non-firefighters, or forty-eight (48) in one week or twelve (12) in one day for firefighters, shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half. With the exception of responses to emergency calls, all overtime work must be approved, in advance, by the Superintendent, Fire Chief, or designee.

22.4 On Call and Standby

- 22.4.a Water and sewer employees who are required to report back to work after the conclusion of their regular workday or who are scheduled to work overtime during the weekend or on holidays shall be paid for a minimum of three (3) hours at the rate of one and one-half their regular rate of pay. This provision does not apply to fire personnel. An employee who is called back for additional work and who completes the required task and returns to his/her residence may be recalled for additional work without an additional guarantee of three (3) hours of pay. It is the purpose and intent of this Section to assure an employee of at least three (3) hours pay at overtime rates for the inconvenience of being called back to work between the normal shift, but not to be separately paid for several callbacks.
- 22.4.b Water and sewer Employees who are required to be on stand-by duty shall be paid at the rate of \$15.00 per day.
- 22.4.c "Stand-by Duty" and/or "On Call" means any period of time outside an employee's regularly scheduled work hours during which an employee is required to carry a pager and/or on-call cell phone and/or on-call tablet and be available for work.
- 22.4.d When an employee on stand-by is called to work, the employee shall be paid in accordance with paragraph (a) above.
- 22.4.e when an employee on stand-by is called to work, the employee must report to work within one (1) hour and must contact dispatch upon arriving at and departing the work location. An employee on stand-by duty who fails to respond to a call or fails to report within one hour of a call, may be subject to discipline. The Employer will not arbitrarily or capriciously discipline an employee due to the employee's failure to report within one (1) hour due to, and during, periods of inclement weather.
- 22.5 No temporary employee will be assigned overtime until all regular employees have had the opportunity for such assignment and refused unless management feels fatigue, health, and safety are a factor.

22.6 Employees may opt to earn compensatory time, at the rate of one and one-half times, in lieu of overtime pay. Employees must notify the Superintendent of their election of compensatory time when submitting their time records for the pay period in which the overtime is worked. Employees may accrue up to a maximum of forty (40) compensatory hours in a calendar year. If compensatory hours are not used prior to the end of the calendar year, those hours will be paid, at the employee's regular base rate, in the final pay period of December. Employees must submit requests to use compensatory time to the Superintendent or Fire Chief at least one (1) week in advance, except in emergencies. Requests for compensatory time shall be approved unless approval would result in undue disruption of Precinct operations.

ARTICLE 23: STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS PROHIBITED

23.1 Under no circumstances will the Union cause, encourage, sponsor, or participate in any strike, sit-down, stay-out, sick-in, work slowdowns, withholding of services, or any curtailment of work or restriction or interference with the operation of the North Conway Water Precinct, during the term of this agreement. Should any employee or group of employees engage in any such job action, the Union will cooperate with the Water Precinct to bring it to a halt.

ARTICLE 24: FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT POLICY

24.1 Shall be governed by existing law.

ARTICLE 25: STABILITY OF AGREEMENT

25.1 Should any article, section or portion thereof of this Agreement be in violation of a State law or be held unlawful and unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision of the court shall apply only to the specific article, section or portion thereof directly specified in the decision; upon the issuance of such a decision, the parties agree immediately to meet and attempt to negotiate a substitute for the invalidated article section, or portion thereof, provided such a substitute is possible in light of the law which rendered the provision unlawful or unenforceable.

25.2 This Agreement represents the final resolution of all matters related to the terms and conditions of employment for members of the Bargaining Unit and, as such, supersedes any prior policies or practices, whether written or unwritten related to employment with the Precinct. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the parties recognize the existence of the North Conway Water Precinct Employee Handbook and agree that if this Agreement is silent on any topic which is covered, either now or in the future in the Handbook, then the terms of the Handbook shall apply to members of the bargaining unit. If any provision of the Handbook, either now or in the future, is inconsistent with a provision of this Agreement, then this Agreement shall govern with respect to bargaining unit members. The provisions of this Agreement shall not be changed or altered except by mutual written agreement of the parties.

ARTICLE 26: DURATION

- This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from January 1, 2023, through December 31, 2027.
- 26.2 Either party may request negotiations for a successor agreement by serving written notice to the other any time after July 1 of the year of expiration. The parties will make every effort to begin negotiations within four (4) weeks of such a request.
- 26.3 If a Triggering Event occurs during the life of this Agreement, either party may reopen negotiations on Article 16.3 by delivering written notice to the other party at least one hundred and ninety (90) days prior to the renewal deadline for the next plan year.

For purposes of this Article, the following shall be considered Triggering Events:

- 26.3.a The current health insurance plan is no longer offered by the insurer.
 - In the case of Triggering Event A, if the parties are unable to agree on a replacement plan, the parties shall mutually select a neutral party knowledgeable about health insurance and that neutral party will review the proposals of both parties and will select the plan which is as close, in terms of benefits and costs, to the parties' current plan.
- 26.3.b The current health insurance plan will result in the imposition of a tax, penalty, fines, fees or other charges of any sort which were not imposed when this Agreement was negotiated.
 - In the case of Triggering Event B, if the parties are unable to agree on an alternative plan prior to the deadline for the Precinct to switch plans for the next year, the current health insurance plan will be continued and any tax, penalty, fine, fee or other charge shall be borne equally by employees, through increased payroll deductions, and the Precinct.

26.3.c The premiums for the current plan have increased by more than 10% in any one year.

in the case of Triggering Event C, if the parties are unable to agree on an alternative plan prior to the deadline for the Precinct to switch plans for the next year, the current health insurance plan will be continued and any increase in premiums for that year over the past year will be shared equally by the employees, through increased payroll deductions, and the Precinct.

ARTICLE 27: CONSULTATION AND LABOR MANAGEMENT

27.1 The parties recognize that in order to foster harmonious relations between the employer and employees, it is beneficial to discuss issues regarding the interpretation or application of this Agreement and other issues arising out of the employment relationship. To accomplish this, the parties agree to form a Labor/Management Committee composed of up to 2 members appointed by the Union and up to 2 members appointed by the Precinct. The Committee shall meet during business hours on a quarterly basis for the purpose of discussing labor management relations and/or concerns of a general nature. Consultation at other times can be requested by either party by written request stating the nature of the matter to be discussed and such request shall not be unreasonably denied. The Committee will attempt to meet, during business hours, within five (5) work days of the request. If the matter to be discussed is a formal grievance, the Committee shall meet in accordance with the provisions of Article 18.3(b).

ARTICLE 28: EVALUATIONS

28.1 The Superintendent and/or Fire Chief, with input from the Employee's immediate Supervisor, will conduct a formal written evaluation of the employee's performance no less than once per calendar year. Such evaluations will indicate if the employee's performance is below expectations, meets expectations, or exceeds expectations. An employee will be provided with a copy of his/her evaluation and the original will be placed in the employee's personnel file. The employee may attach any comments to his/her evaluation and said comments shall be kept in the personnel file.

SIGNATURES

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have caused these presents to be signed by their duly authorized officers and representatives, or either, this $\frac{127}{1200}$ day of $\frac{127}{1200}$, 2023.

FOR THE UNION	FOR THE WATER PRECINCT
ANDO	Janu Umbege
Andrew Moore	James Umberger, Commissioner Suyane Molecular
	Suzanne Nelson, Commissioner
	Ratio Forto
	Robert F. Porter, Commissioner

APPENDIX A -- WAGE SCALE

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2023

Revised 6/7/23

Administration

2023-2025

2026-2027

Classification	Grade	Minimum	Maximum	Minimum	Maximum
Administrative Clerk I	1	\$19.00	\$24.00	\$21.00	\$26.00
Administrative Clerk II	2	\$22.00	\$29.00	\$24.00	\$31.00
Administrative Clerk III	3	\$23.50	\$30.00	\$25.50	\$32.00
Business Administrator I	4	\$25.00	\$33.50	\$27.00	\$35.50
Business Administrator II	5	\$27.50	\$35.50	\$29.50	\$37.50

Drinking Water & Sewer Collections

2023-2025

2026-2027

Classification	Grade	Minimum	Maximum	Minimum	Maximum
Operator I	1	\$19.00	\$24.00	\$21.00	\$26.00
Operator II	2	\$22.00	\$29.00	\$24.00	\$31.00
Operator III	3	\$23.50	\$30.00	\$25.50	\$32.00
Operator IV	4	\$25.00	\$33.50	\$27.00	\$35.50
Foreman	5	\$27.50	\$35.50	\$29.50	\$37.50

Wastewater Treatment

2023-2025

2026-2027

Classification	Grade	Minimum	Maximum	Minimum	Maximum
Operator I	1	\$19.00	\$24.00	\$21.00	\$26.00
Operator II	2	\$22.00	\$29.00	\$24.00	\$31.00
Operator III	3	\$23.50	\$30.00	\$25.50	\$32.00
Operator IV	4	\$25.00	\$33.50	\$27.00	\$35.50

NOTES REGARDING ADVANCEMENT IN CLASSIFICATION AND GRADE LEVEL

- 1. Employees who complete the requirements to advance in classification and grade level will be moved to the appropriate classification upon presentation of documentation of such to the Business Manager.
- 2. Employees who advance in classification level during a contract year will be eligible for an increase in their hourly rate of \$1.00 per hour or an increase to the minimum wage for the applicable classification, whichever is greater. Increases will take effect in the pay period following submission of documentation to the Business Manager. For budgeting purposes, employees who anticipate advancing to a higher classification during the next contract year must notify the Superintendent no later than November 1 of the current contract year. Failure to provide such notice may result in the withholding of the increase until the start of the next budget year, at the discretion of the Superintendent.

APPENDIX B: WAGE SCALE CLASSIFICATION (Revised 6/7/23)

Water:

Classification	Qualifications		
Water Operator I	 High School Diploma / GED 0 – 2 years' experience in the water industry Class B CDL 		
Water Operator II	Meet Operator I plus at least three of the following:		
	 Grade I Treatment certification Grade I Distribution certification Grade I Collections System certification 2 - 7 years' experience in the water industry AND/OR		
	Backflow Tester Certification		
Water Operator III	Meet Operator II plus at least (3) of the following:		
	 Grade II Treatment certification Grade II Distribution certification Grade II Collections System certification Class A CDL 7 – 15 years' experience in the water industry 		
Water Operator IV	Meet Operator III plus at least (3) of the following:		
	 Grade III Collections System certification NHDES Water/WW Management School certification Primex Supervisors Academy certification 15+ years' experience in the water industry 		
Foreman	Meets Operator IV plus has demonstrated ability to effectively lead and manage the full water department staff.		

Wastewater:

Classification	Qualifications	
WW Operator I	 High School Diploma / GED 0 – 2 years' relevant experience Class B CDL 	
WW Operator II	Meet Operator I plus all the following: Grade II Treatment certification Grade I Collections System	
WW Operator III	certification • 2 – 7 years' experience relevant experience Meet Operator II plus at least (3) of the following:	
	 Grade III Treatment certification Grade II Collections System certification NEWEA Grade I Laboratory	
WW Operator IV	Meet Operator III plus at least (3) of the following: Grade IV Treatment Certification Grade III Collections System certification NHDES Water/WW Management School certification Primex Supervisors Academy certification 15+ years' relevant experience	

Administration:

Classification	Qualifications
Administrative Clerk I	 High School Diploma / GED 0-2 Years relevant experience Primex Cyber Security Training within 1 month of start
Administrative Clerk II	Meet Administrative Clerk I plus at least 2 of the following:
Administrative Clerk III	 2-7 years' relevant experience Business Communications, Internal Controls, & Risk Management Training 1.0 CEU Primex Credits Meet Administrative Clerk II plus at least 2 of the
	following: • 7-15 years' relevant experience
D. Alleria	 NHGFOA Government Accounting Certificate 1.50 CEU Primex Credits
Business Administrator I	 Bachelor's degree in accounting, finance, or other related field or 10+ years' experience in municipal finance and/or accounting, and/or NHGFOA Government Accounting Certificate 1.5 CEU Primex Credits
Business Administrator II	Meet Business Administrator I plus 2 of the following:
	 Master's degree in accounting, finance, or other related field or 15+ years' experience in municipal finance and/or accounting Primex Supervisor Academy Certification 2.0 Additional CEU Primex Credits

APPENDIX C: INITIAL EMPLOYEE SLOTTING IN NEW WAGE SCALE

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2023

Employee	Old Job Class	New Job Class	New Base Pay
Jennifer Fall	Secretary II	Business Administrator II	\$31.48
Aaron Bernier	Lab Technician	Operator IV	\$30.42
Steve Anderson	Asst. Maintenance	Operator II	\$26.00
Dennis Aikens	Operator II	Operator II	\$27.00
Arthur Hill Jr.	Foreman	Foreman	\$32.22
Curtis Hodgdon	Asst. Foreman	Operator IV	\$28.54
Mark Ewing	Heavy Equip. Opr.	Operator III	\$27.50
Kyle Fall	Laborer	Operator II	\$25.00
Deb Detzer	Secretary I	Administrative Clerk I	\$21.00